


ENGINEERING & ENVIR. SVCS. DEPARTMENT 

Hameed Malik, Ph.D., P.E., Director 

Contract Amendment 2 -Terms Negotiation with WM 

Zone2 and Zon3 service provider, Inland Services dba Orion Waste (now Coastal Waste & Recycling (Coastal)) 
entered into Contract Amendment2 agreement on October 12, 2021, with a second renewal term from January 
1, 2024 to December 31, 2025. Terms of this amendment2 includes payment to the City for CNG Infrastructure 
and bring any non-contract putrescible waste collected or under its control within Richmond County and the 
surrounding area (the CSRA Geographical Region) to the Augusta Landfill, or any other facility designated by 
Augusta (Coastal Amendment2 copy attached). 

The following is a sequence of taken actions. 
(1) On February 21, 2023, Engineering & Environmental Services Director (Director) transmitted 

Contract Amendment2 draft (Draft) to WM for review and discussion. To maintain Bid 11-112 

procurement uniformity, terms identical to Costal Amendment2 were included in the Draft.

(2) On February 23, 2023 Georgia Waste System, LLC, dba Waste Management of Augusta Hauling 
(GWS) responded to the director; in summary not agreeing to two key terms (Non-contracted waste 

flow to Augusta Landfill and Capital Cost payment) included in the Draft. In closing, GWS 

suggested the City issue a new RFP.

(3) On February 24, 2023 GWS confirmed that February 23, 203 letter is GWS final response.

(4) Subsequently, on March 2, 2023 the Director held follow up meeting with GWS Senior Account 

Executive-Public Sector, George Council. The Director discussed details of Draft and rationale 

inclusion of both key terms that GWS objected.

Path Forward Recommendations: 
Two possible options to consider. 
(1) Zone 2 and Zone 3 served by Coastal. Explore possibility of expanding Costal Services to Zonl for

period January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2025.
(2) Develop new contract document and Initiate Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for Zonel service

area for new ten-year term Qanuary 1, 2024 to December 31, 2033). Also, qualified firm(s) for
serving Zone 2 and Zones for eight-year initial term effective January 1, 2026.

Should you require additional information, please do not hesitate to contact me at (706)796-5068. 

Thank you. 

/hm 

Attachment - WM Contract -Amendment2 Draft 
Coastal Contract- copy of Executed Amenment2 
GWS Response Letter dated February 23, 2023 
Waste Collection Contract-Section 8 - Media and Capital Cost 

Augusta Engineering Administration 

452 Walker Street, Suite 110 - Augusta, GA 30901 

Office: (706) 796 - 5040 Fax: (706) 796 -5045 
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ATTACHMENTS 

1) WM Contract-Amendment2 Draft 

2) Coastal Contract-Copy of executed Amendment2 

3) GWS Response Letter Dated February 23, 2023 

4) Waste Collection Contract-Section 8-Media and Capital Cost 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

WM Contract-Amendment2 Draft 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



SECOND AMENDMENT TO AUGUSTA, GEORGIA SOLID WASTE AND 

RECYCLABLES COLLECTION AGREEMENT 

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT to the Augusta, Georgia Solid Waste and 

Recyclables Collection Agreement with an effective date of August 7, 2012 (the 

"Agreement"), by and between Augusta, Georgia (“Augusta”) and Waste Management, 

Inc. (“Waste Management”), hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Parties,” is made 

and entered into this _______day of ________, 2023 to be effective as of 12:01 a.m. of 

January 1, 2024. 

WHEREAS, the Parties agree to the following terms and conditions and 

expressly agree that if any of the following terms and conditions conflict with any of 

the terms and conditions of the Agreement, then, notwithstanding any term in the 

Agreement, the following terms and conditions govern and control the rights and 

obligations of the parties. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Parties agreeing to amend their 

obligations in the existing Agreement, and other valuable consideration, the receipt and 

sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, both Parties agree to amend the 

Agreement as follows: 
 

1. Section 2.1 Performance Commencement is hereby amended to add the 

following as the last sentence of Section 2.1: 

The Parties are exercising _the Second Renewal Term of January 1, 2024 

to December 31, 2025 in the manner as provided in this Section 2.1 of the 

Augusta, Georgia Solid Waste and Recyclables Collection Agreement. 

 

2. Section 7.3 Non-Contracted Waste is hereby amended as follow:  

replaced in entirety with following:  

Contractor agrees to bring any non-contract putrescible waste collected or 

under its control within Richmond County and the surrounding areas (the 

CSRA Geographical Region) to the Augusta Landfill, or any other facility 

designated by Augusta. 

 

3. Section 7.4 Additional Non-Contracted Waste is hereby amended to read as: 

The Contractor, with Augusta’s prior approval, may market Augusta’s landfill 

in an effort to generate additional revenue for both the Contractor and 

Augusta. Negotiated disposal pricing must be approved by the Augusta 

Commission.  

 

4. Section 8.2 Capital Costs is hereby amended to add the following as Section 

8.2.6 Additional Capital Costs. 

The Parties hereby mutually agree that the Contractor Shall make payments 

in the amount of $55,909.49 per month during the First Renewal Term from 

January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023, and the Second Renewal Term from 

January 1, 2024 to December 31, 2025. 



 

5. Section 20.14 Notices is hereby amended to read as: 

Any notice required herein shall be given by certified mail to: 

 

For Augusta: 

 City Administrator  

535 Telfair Street, Suite 910, Augusta, GA 30901 

 

 Director Environmental Services  

 4330 Deans Bridge Road, Blythe, GA 30806  

 

 

For Waste Management: 

 

??? 

 

???? 

 

 

6. Section 20.12 Modifications and Waiver is hereby amended to read as: 

The parties must mutually agree upon any changes in the Agreement and must 

be incorporated by written amendments to the Agreement. The Augusta 

Commission shall have authority to amend the Agreement. 

 

This agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the parties regarding the 

subject matter hereof and may be modified only by a written agreement signed 

by both parties. 

 

7. Section 20.28 1(b)  Force Majeure is hereby amended to read as: 

 

If and to the extent such failure or delay is caused, directly or indirectly by 

fire, flood, hurricanes, earthquakes, storms, lighting, epidemic (excluding 

COVID), war, riot, civil disturbance, sabotage, and government actions. 

 

8. All other terms of the Augusta, Georgia Solid Waste and Recyclables 

Collection Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

9. This Agreement Amendment is not effective until fully executed by all 

Parties. 

 

 

 

 

 

[SIGNATURES ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE] 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement under seal as of 

the date first written above. 

 

 

AUGUSTA, GEORGIA 

Date:  

 

_________________________________ 

Garnett L. Johnson. as its Mayor  

 

 

 

 

Attest:_______________________________ 

      Lena J. Bonner, Clerk of Commission 

 

 

 

 

 

WASTE MANAGEMENT, INC. 

Date: 

 

           ____________________________________ 

           (Print)________________________ 

           as its _____________________ 

    



 

 

 

Coastal Contract-Copy of executed Amendment2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 









 

 

 

GWS Response Letter Dated February 23, 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

WM Augusta Hauling 

208 Prep Phillips Drive 

Augusta, Georgia 30901-1700 

  

February 23, 2023       

 

VIA EMAIL AND CERTIFIED MAIL 

Hameed Malik, Ph.D., PE 

Director Engineering & Environmental Services 

Engineering Administration 

452 Walker Street, Suite 110, Augusta, GA 30901 

(706) 796-5040 

 

Re: Draft agreement between; Georgia Waste Systems, LLC & City of Augusta, GA 

 

Dear Doctor Malik, 

 

 Georgia Waste Systems, LLC, dba Waste Management of Augusta Hauling (“GWS”) received your 

proposed draft extension agreement via email on February 21st, 2023.  This new draft was unexpected, 

since per your earlier request on January 19th, and at prior meetings, GWS sent you a proposed 

amendment for the City’s consideration on January 31st. Now, you inform us in your February 21st email 

that our draft amendment was never going to be considered by the City due to a prior decision by the 

Commission, despite significant time and effort spent preparing this draft per your request.  

 

 Notwithstanding the foregoing, GWS has reviewed your proposed draft amendment, and 

respectfully cannot agree to the proposed terms for the following reasons:   

 

• Section 7.3 Non-Contracted Waste- Contractor agrees to bring any non-contract 
putrescible waste collected or under its control within Richmond County and the 
surrounding areas (the CSRA Geographical Region) to the Augusta Landfill, or any 

other facility designated by Augusta. 
 
              GWS strenuously objects to any form of flow control mandates for waste volumes.  The original 

Agreement gave GWS the right, but not the obligation, to bring Augusta non-contract waste collected, or 

under its control, where economically feasible, in the areas surrounding Richmond County.  GWS cannot 

agree to modify this provision such that it makes such waste diversion mandatory.  Further, there is legal 

precedent which deems such flow control provisions unlawful. 

 

 

 

• 8.2.6 Additional Capital Costs.  The Parties hereby mutually agree that the Contractor 
Shall make payments in the amount of $55,909.49 per month during the First Renewal  
 
 



 

WM Augusta Hauling 

208 Prep Phillips Drive 

Augusta, Georgia 30901-1700 

  
 
Term from January 1, 2023, to December 31, 2023, 
and the Second Renewal Term from January 1, 2024, 
to December 31, 2025. 

 

               GWS cannot absorb any other imposed costs by the City.  In the past 24-months, our company 

has experienced exponential cost increases from the CDL Driver Shortages, Lagging Pandemic Effects, and 

other Inflationary down-stream cost pressures. Agreeing to this proposed agreement modification would 

equate to GWS providing its services to Augusta at a loss, which it is unable to do. 

 

                In closing, GWS will honor our existing agreement with the City through December 31st, 2023. It 

was our great hope to come to a mutually beneficial arrangement with respect to an extension of the 

pre-existing Agreement, but failing that, we suggest the City issue a new RFP, which will allow GWS and 

other vendors to fairly participate and be considered for waste collection services to the City.   

 

      Respectfully, 

 

 

 

      George Council  

      Senior Account Executive Public Sector    

      (803) 600-8721 

 

cc : Michael J. Holbrook, Public Sector Director, SA 

Eric Wakefield, Operations Director, SA 

Christina Deangelis, Senior Legal Counsel 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

Waste Collection Contract-Section 8-Media and Capital Cost 








